FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/13/2019 4:57 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96837-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals, Division II No. 45476-9-II

TED SPICE AND PLEXUS DEVELOPMENT, LLC,

Petitioners

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, a political subdivision, and CITY OF PUYALLUP, a municipal corporation

Respondents

PETITIONERS' PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT

Carolyn A. Lake, WSBA #13980 Goodstein Law Group PLLC 501 South G Street Tacoma, WA 98405 (253) 779-4000 Attorney for Petitioners

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Ted Spice ("Spice") and Plexus Inc. ("Plexus")

(collectively "Spice" or "Plexus") hereby ask for the relief designated in

Part II. Petitioners are represented by the Goodstein Law Group PLLC.

II. RELIEF REQUESTED

Petitioners ask the Supreme Court to accept review of the following:

November 21, 2017 decision of the Court of Appeals, Division II in Case

No. 45476-9-II ("Ruling") (**Appendix 1**), Appeals Court Order dated

November 27, 2018 which granted Petitioners' (First) Motion for

Reconsideration (**Appendix 2**), but which by Appeals Court Decision

dated November 28, 2018 again denied Petitioners' appeal ("2018

Ruling") (**Appendix 3**),

Appeals Court Order dated January 10, 2019 which denied Petitioners'

(Second) Motion for Reconsideration (**Appendix 4**), ("Decisions"). The

Decisions meet all the criteria of RAP 13.4(b). This Supreme Court should accept review and reverse the Division II Decisions.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

The Decisions of the Court of Appeals, Division II subject of this Petition are attached as Appendix 1-4.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. The Division II Decisions conflict with the recent Maytown decision of this Washington Supreme Court which recognizes that RCW 64.40 and tort damage claims are causes of action independent of appeals of **LUPA determinations. RAP 13.4(b) (1).** Error! Bookmark not defined.

- B. The Division II Decisions conflict with decisions of this Washington Supreme Court and other divisions of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b) (1) and (2).
- C. Petitioners present a significant question under the Federal and Washington Constitution as Petitioners were deprived of due process because their right to seek RCW 64. 40 and tort damages were improperly terminated contrary to the Supreme Court's holding in *Maytown*. RAP 13.4(b) (3).
- D. The Division II Decisions which had the effect of allowing a public entity to breach its duty to provide water service based on arbitrary and capricious acts and omissions and to evade the resulting damages actions are founded on a fundamentally wrong basis and is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners accept the Statement of Facts as contained in the Appeals Court 2018 Decision, as supplement herein.

VI. SUMMARY

This Court should accept Review because the Decisions of the Appeals Court below directly conflict with this Supreme Court's recent holding in *Maytown Sand and Gravel, LLC v. Thurston County*, No. 94452-1. ("Maytown"). In that very recent ruling, this Supreme Court expressly held that Chapter 64.40 RCW claims, which address tortious acts by a permitting body, are wholly independent from Chapter 36.70C RCW Land Use

¹ Maytown Sand & Gravel, LLC v. Thurston Cty., 191 Wn.2d 392, 423 P.3d 223 (2018), Slip opinion attached as **Appendix 5.**

Petition Act ("LUPA") actions and lack of a LUPA claim does not bar related tort claims. Here, three Petitioners who had varying interests in a property sought relief under LUPA based on the city of Puyallup's failure to provide water service. These same Petitioners also pursued Chapter 64.40 RCW and tort damages based on Puvallup's delay and arbitrary and capricious acts/omissions in refusing to process Petitioners' water service, when Puyallup had a duty to so, and which resulted in damages accruing since 2004². While this litigation was on-going, one of the three Petitioners died, ownership interest in the subject property was litigated, and ultimately at least one of the two surviving Petitioners retained an ownership interest, and the Estate of deceased Petitioner (Estate) also owned a percentage interest. CP 2659. The Trial Court ultimately determined that the Estate of the deceased Petitioner did not wish to be a party to the present LUPA and tort damages action³. As a result, the Trial Court dismissed not just the LUPA action, but also the RCW 64.40 and tort actions of all parties, based

² Damages from Puyallup's breach of this duty accrued from at least 2004 until 2011, when Puyallup dropped its improper requirement that annexation was a condition of water service. The facts of this case are near identical to those in *Stanzel v. Puyallup*, *Stanzel v. City of Puyallup* 150 Wash.App. 835, 209 P.3d 534, Wash. App. Div. 2 ,2009 case, copy attached as **Appendix 6** where the COA found Puyallup had a duty to serve landowner similarly situated to these Petitioners. In fact, Petitioners Plexus and Spice are expressly mentioned I the COA Decision. These Petitioners had paused their litigation to await the outcome of the *Stanzel* case on appeal.

³ The Estate of the deceased Petitioner was first managed by a surviving daughter; however, the overseeing Probate Court took away her testamentary powers. The Trial Court in this subject action nonetheless accepted the daughter's position that the Estate did not wish to be a party to the LUPA action. CP 988-990, 5298-9.

on CR 19, failure to join a necessary party. The Trial Court found, and the Court of Appeal Decisions upheld that the Estate was a necessary party as to all causes of action, because generally "a landowner is an indispensable party in a case that would affect the use of the landowner's property," citing Ahmad v. Town of Springdale, 178 Wn. App. 333, 341, 314 P.3d 729 (2013).⁴ But by upholding the dismissal of the RCW 64.40 and tort damages claims in addition to the LUPA claim, the Appeals Court acted in direct conflict with this Courts Maytown ruling, by failing to acknowledge that the remaining Petitioners' tort and Chapter 64.40 damages claims are separate and distinct from LUPA, for which each individual Petitioner had their own causes of action to assert, and for which the Estate was not a CR 19 necessary party.5 This Supreme Court should accept review because surviving Petitioners' RCW 64.40 and tort-based damages claims should not have been dismissed when the LUPA action was dismissed pursuant to CR 19.

VII. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the following grounds for review of appellate

⁴ 2018 Ruling at 19, ("the holding in *Ahmad* applies broadly to "landowners" and LUPA applies to determinations affecting the use of real property. RCW 36.70C.020(2)(a)-(c)")," Emphasis added.

⁵ The *Maytown* case was decided after the main briefing was completed in this case. The Petitioners filed Reconsideration to bring Maytown to the attention of the Appeals Court, which was denied by its 2018 Ruling. See Petitioner's Second Motion for Reconsideration on file dated December 12, 2018.

decisions:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision by another division of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This case should be considered under all four prongs of this Rule.

- E. The Division II Decisions conflict with the recent *Maytown* decision of this Washington Supreme Court which recognizes that RCW 64.40 and tort damage claims are causes of action independent of appeals of LUPA determinations. RAP 13.4(b)(1).
 - 1. Trial and Appeals Court Rulings with Conflict Supreme Court's Recent *Maytown* case, by Failing To treat RCW 64.40 and Tort Claims Separate & Distinct from Land Use LUPA claims.

In the present case, Petitioners sought a change in water service supplied by City of Puyallup from residential to commercial. CP 1-4. When Puyallup refused to process the application,⁶ Petitioners exhausted their administrative appeal CP122, 124, 130-131, and then filed a LUPA appeal as well as damages actions under Chapter 64.40 for Puyallup's delay

-5-

⁶ CP 124, 129, 11008, 120, 281, 122, 627-8, 1108

/arbitrary and capricious acts, and tort claims, for Puyallup's breach of its duty to provide water service. The Trial Court below dismissed the LUPA action after the Estate for one of the three Petitioners, now deceased, expressed unwillingness to be a party; the remaining Petitioners asserted the tort actions were independent of LUPA and should survive. The Trial Court below disagreed and dismissed all claims per CR 19 for failure to join a necessary party. The Appeals Court upheld dismissal. Review is needed as this Supreme Court has expressly held that Chapter 64.40 RCW claims, which address tortious acts by a permitting body, are wholly independent from Chapter 36.70C RCW Land Use Petition Act (LUPA) actions, and that lack of a LUPA claim does not bar a tort action.⁷

In the very recent *Maytown* case, this Washington Supreme Court ruled that the absence of a LUPA claim does not bar an action based on an agency's tortious acts committed during the land use permitting processes.⁸

_

⁷ In *Maytown*, this Court found that LUPA's distinct processes were adopted to address the need for accelerated processing and uniformity in land use "determinations"; and that those same considerations are not critical to tort claims. "Tortious acts committed during the land use decision-making process are not similar or comparable to *determinations* on a permit application, on the applicability of land use ordinances or regulations to property, or on how ordinances and regulations should be enforced. Construing "determination" in this limited manner is consistent with LUPA's stated purpose, which is to provide landowners with an expedited and uniform process for obtaining and appealing local <u>land use</u> decisions." *Maytown*, quoting, RCW 36.70C.010; *Wash. State Office of Fin. Mgmt., Governor's Task Force on Regulatory Reform: Final Report* 51 (Dec. 20, 1994). This Supreme Court found that, "That rationale does not apply to <u>intentional torts</u> committed during that land use decision-making process." *Maytown* at Slip Opinion 41.

⁸ See *Maytown Slip Opinion, Appendix 5* attached. "They [Maytown and the Port] argue that LUPA's exhaustion requirement applies only to actions challenging the validity of a permit or the interpretation of a land use statute or ordinance. They argue that a different

We therefore hold that LUPA's administrative exhaustion requirement does not apply to the tort claims raised here. *Accord Woods View II, LLC v. Kitsap County, 188 Wn. App. 1,* 24-25, 352 P.3d 807 (2015) (holding LUPA's exhaustion requirement does not bar tort claims arising from improper governmental delay in processing permits); *Libera v. City of Port Angeles, 178 Wn. App. 669, 675 n.6, 316 P.3d 1064 (2013)* (holding the same rule applies to a tort claim alleging intentional interference with a business expectancy). 9

This Court should accept review because the Decisions below directly conflict with the *Maytown* Ruling. In the present case, Petitioners sought a change in water service supplied by City of Puyallup from residential to commercial. When Puyallup refused to process the application, Petitioners exhausted their administrative appeal, and then filed a LUPA appeal as well as damages actions under Chapter 64.40 for Puyallup's delay /arbitrary and capricious acts, and tort claims, for

rule applies where, as here, the plaintiffs challenge an agency's tortious acts committed during the land use permitting process, rather than the land use decision itself. See Westmark Dev. Corp. v. City of Burien, 140 Wn. App. 540, 556, 166 P.3d 813 (2007) (distinguishing between actions challenging the validity of a land use decision and actions challenging the government's bad faith delay in issuing that decision.... We agree with Maytown and the Port." Slip Opinion at 40. Further, in Maytown, this Court found that LUPA's distinct processes were adopted to address the need for accelerated processing and uniformity in land use "determinations"; and that those same considerations are not critical to tort claims. "Tortious acts committed during the land use decision-making process are not similar or comparable to determinations on a permit application, on the applicability of land use ordinances or regulations to property, or on how ordinances and regulations should be enforced. Construing "determination" in this limited manner is also consistent with LUPA's stated purpose, which is to provide landowners with an expedited and uniform process for obtaining and appealing local land use decisions. RCW 36.70C.010; Wash. State Office of Fin. Mgmt., Governor's Task Force on Regulatory Reform: Final Report 51 (Dec. 20, 1994). That rationale does not apply to intentional torts committed during that land use decision-making process." Id at 41-42.

⁹ Id., *Slip Opinion* 42-43.

Puyallup's breach of its duty to provide water service. Petitioners seek review of the Appeals Court Decisions which uphold dismissal of Petitioners' Land Use Petition Act and tort damages lawsuit, where trial court found that when one of the three original Petitioners passed away, the Estate of deceased was a CR 19 necessary party, and when the Estate decline to participate, the LUPA and tort damages actions all must be dismissed for failure to join a necessary party. The two remaining Petitioners, consistent with *Maytown*, assert that each have independent tort and RCW 64.40 claims for damages, which are separate from the LUPA claim, that those tort claims survived and could be and were properly pursued by their attorney. Petitioners' LUPA cause of action seeks relief regarding the use of the property. Petitioners' Chapter 64.40 RCW tort causes of action and breach of tort duty 2 claims seek monetary

2007). CP 8-9.

 $^{^{10}}$ The Estate remains a party to the suit. At no time has the estate moved to dismiss the deceased petitioner or to substitute as a party. CP 2659. 11 CP 668, CP 1-28.

¹² 3.1 Puyallup has breached its duty to provide water service to Plexus pursuant to Puyallup's Service Area Agreement, the CWSP, and Chapter 70.116 RCW upon which these agreements are founded, and an independent duty pursuant to RCW 43.260.
Puyallup had breached its duties as exclusive water service provider pursuant to RCW 70.116, the Pierce County Water System Plan, Puyallup's Standard Service Area Agreement, RCW 43.20, and Puyallup's DOH approved water system plan.
3.3 Puyallup has breached a duty recognized by Washington Courts. The Courts recognize a duty to provide service where a city "holds itself out" (1) as willing to supply sewer or water service to an area, or (2) where a city is the exclusive supplier of sewer or water service in a region extending beyond the borders of the city. See: *Mt Development LLC*, et al., vs. City Of Renton, et al, Court of Appeals Division I, 59002-2-I, (Aug. 27,

relief for the damages inflicted by Puyallup during the permit process. This Supreme Court should accept review because surviving Petitioners' RCW 64.40 and tort-based damages claims should not have been dismissed when the LUPA action was dismissed pursuant to CR 19.

2. Chapter 64.40 RCW and breach of water service duty are tort, not a land use, causes of action.

In *Maytown*, this Supreme Court found that "Tortious acts committed during the land use decision-making process are not similar or comparable to *determinations* on a permit application, on the applicability of land use ordinances or regulations to property, or on how ordinances and regulations should be enforced. Construing "determination" in this limited manner is consistent with LUPA's stated purpose, which is to provide landowners with an expedited and uniform process for obtaining and appealing local land use decisions. RCW 36.70C.010; *Wash. State Office of Fin. Mgmt., Governor's Task Force on Regulatory Reform: Final*

•

¹³ CP 1004: 2-3. The remedies sought by Petitioners included monetary damages, beginning in at least 2004:

^{3.} The actions of the City of Puyallup in denying the request of Petitioners for additional water service and refusing to sign the Water Availability Letter required by Pierce County for construction on their property caused damage to Petitioners within the meaning of RCW 64.40**Error! Bookmark not defined.**.030(4).

^{4.} These damages include the inability to use their property for uses permissible under the law and County zoning, reasonable expenses and losses, and do not include speculative losses or profits.

^{5.} These damages were incurred between the time Petitioners were first denied a Water Availability Letter through and including the time of trial in this matter. The exact amount of damages will be calculated before the time of trial. *CP_10-11* Dec of Ethan Offenbecker. CP 991-1002.

Report 51 (Dec. 20, 1994). That rationale does not apply to intentional torts committed during that land use decision-making process." ¹⁴ This *Maytown* analysis spotlights why this Court found tort actions are distinct and independent of LUPA determinations. The Appeals Court's Decision impermissibly conflict with *Maytown*, in allowing the LUPA and tort claims to be improperly bundled, such that when the LUPA claim was dismissed for failure to join what the trial court considered a necessary party [the Estate], the independent tort-based claims were wrongly also dismissed.

3. Each Petitioner had Independent Tort Claims.

Even if one accepts that CR 19 defeats a LUPA case¹⁵, there is no such similar requirement that all owners of property must join in seeking tort or RCW 64.40 claims. Separate from the LUPA claim, *Maytown* affirms that each Petitioner had an independent cause of action under RCW 64.40, whereby each sought money damages, and not a contested "use" of land. RCW 64.40.020 creates a damages cause of action for "owners of a property interest" to obtain relief from relief from [an agency's] failure to act within time limits established by law:

Owners of a property interest who have filed an application for a permit have an action for damages to obtain relief from acts of an agency which are arbitrary, capricious, unlawful, or exceed lawful authority, or relief

¹⁴ Maytown at Slip Opinion 41.

¹⁵ Ruling at 18. Petitioners do not concede this issue.

from a failure to act within time limits established by law.

The statute defines a property interest as "any interest or right in real property in the state." See RCW 64.40.010(3)(emphasis added). The statute does not limit its scope to property owners, but instead to any person or entity with "any interest or right in real property." Here all Petitioners had an interest in the Property and or were applicants for development. Applicants for development rights have a constitutionally cognizable property right. *See Mission Springs, Inc. v. City of Spokane*, 134 Wn.2d 947, 962, P.2d 250 (1998). The record of this case unequivocally shows Petitioners here established chapter 64.40 damages as follows:

o Petitioners all held an interest in the Property¹⁷

¹⁶ In *Mission Springs*, the Washington State Supreme Court held that a developer had a constitutional property right in the grading permit it sought:

Mission Springs had a constitutionally cognizable property right in the grading permit it.

Mission Springs had a constitutionally cognizable property right in the grading permit it sought. The right to use and enjoy land is a property right. State ex rel. Seattle Title Trust Co. v. Roberge, 278 U.S. 116, 49 S.Ct. 50, 73 L.Ed. 210, 86 A.L.R. 654 (1928); *963 Nollan v. California Coastal Comm'n, 483 U.S. 825, 107 S.Ct. 3141, 97 L.Ed.2d 677 (1987); West Main Assocs. v. City of Bellevue, 106 Wash.2d 47, 50, 720 P.2d 782 (1986) ("'Although less than a fee interest, development rights are beyond question a valuable right in property.'") (quoting Louthan v. King County, 94 Wash.2d 422, 428, 617 P.2d 977 (1980)); Ackerman v. Port of Seattle, 55 Wash.2d 400, 409, 348 P.2d 664, 77 A.L.R.2d 1344 (1960) ("'Property in a thing consists not merely in its ownership and possession, but in the unrestricted right of use, enjoyment and disposal.' "(Citations omitted.)) (quoting Spann v. City of Dallas, 111 Tex. 350, 355, 235 S.W.513, 19 A.L.R. 1387 (1921)).

Id. at 962-963 (emphasis added).

¹⁷ From at least February 28, 2004 (execution of the DPOA) through August 29, 2007, the date of filing the LUPA 2 Appeal, Petitioners had various interests in the Subject Property, including:

o Ms. Mathews' initial ownership of the Subject Property, and Mr Spice held a 33% interest holder in the subject property, by Quit Claim Deed dated December 1, 2007 and recorded June 3, 2009. By that Deed, Ms. Mathews deeded a one-third interest to Ted Spice in the property which is subject to this LUPA and damages claim. CP 4879.

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