FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/29/2019 3:14 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96837-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TED SPICE and PLEXUS DEVELOPMENT, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

PIERCE COUNTY, a political subdivision, and the CITY OF PUYALLUP, a municipal corporation,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT CITY OF PUYALLUP'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael C. Walter, WSBA #15044 Kimberly J. Waldbaum, WSBA #31529 Keating, Bucklin & McCormack, Inc., P.S. 801 Second Avenue, Suite 1210

Seattle, WA 98104 Phone: (206) 623-8861 FAX: (206) 223-9423

E-mail: <u>mwalter@kbmlawyers.com</u> kwaldbaum@kbmlawyers.com

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

judgment in favor of the City for Spice's failure to join an indispensable party (the Estate). Appellants followed this with their third Notice of Appeal, filed on August 17, 2015. CP 3560-3561.

E. The City filed a renewed motion for CR 11 sanctions and the trial court imposed sanctions on attorney Lake

On April 15, 2016, the Court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Granting City of Puyallup's CR 11 Sanctions against Attorney Carolyn A. Lake (CP 7460-7479). Sanctions in the amount of \$45,000 were entered "which the Court finds to be a fair and reasonable amount given the nature and extent of this litigation and how far it was allowed to proceed before the fact of Ms. Mathews' death was disclosed, for Ms. Lake's failure to make a reasonable inquiry into the death of her client, Ms. Mathews, and as a sanction for deterrence. This amount is a sanction award and not intended as attorneys' fees and costs incurred by the City." Id. at 7474. The trial court continued: "Ms. Lake continued to vigorously litigate this case following the death of Plaintiff Mathews without legal authority to do so; and thus filed pleadings that were not well-grounded in fact and without legal effect." Id. at 7475.

.

¹ "Now, to say this matter was zealously litigated by all sides would be the understatement of the century. And throughout this litigation petitioner's [Appellants'] counsel, primarily Ms. Lake, represented Doris Mathews, only she was dead. And throughout this litigation, despite a direct inquiry from this court in hundreds of pages, at least over 100 pages, I still have not heard an explanation of why the court wasn't told that Ms. Mathews was dead. I don't know how many pleadings have been filed in this case, I stopped counting at about 80, but I think certainly 80 pleadings, but every pleading filed in this case until a footnote before the Court of Appeals, the plaintiffs purported to represent Doris Mathews." RP (December 11, 2015) at 20:10-23.

F. The Trial Court granted the City's renewed motion for attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to ch. 64.40 RCW

Also on April 15, 2016, *sua sponte*, Judge Nevin drafted and entered his own *Order Granting the City of Puyallup an Award of Reasonable Attorney Fees and Costs Pursuant to RCW Ch. 64.40* (CP 7480-7501). The attorney fee award was entered against Spice and Plexus in the amount of \$132,790.65. This was the same amount that was previously entered against the Petitioners on December 13, 2013. CP 2574-2590. Appellants filed a Fourth Notice of Appeal, appealing both the CR 11 and RCW ch. 64.40 Orders.

On May 20, 2016, Final Judgments were entered on the CR 11 Award and on the ch. 64.40 RCW Award, from which Appellants filed their <u>Fifth</u> Notice of Appeal.

G. The Court of Appeals, Division II, affirms judgment in favor of the City on all issues twice, in opinions dated November 21, 2017, and November 28, 2018²

The Court of Appeals, Division II, held that "the superior court properly granted summary judgment to the City, did not abuse its discretion by imposing CR 11 sanctions against Spice's attorney, and did not err by granting the City's request for reasonable attorney fees and costs at trial. We also hold against Spice's appeal of the 2008 decision. Accordingly, we affirm the superior court." *Opinion of November 28*,

12

² The second Opinion expanded on the convoluted facts of this case, and further clarified the Court's reasoning for affirming the trial court in all respects.

2018,³ at 1. This thorough, well-reasoned decision should be upheld by this Court and the Petition for Review should be dismissed.

IV. WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

Knowing that review is only accepted by this Court in limited circumstances, Petitioners weakly attempt to manufacture issues that attempt to fit within the framework of RAP 13.4(b). In reality, the Court of Appeals' Opinion is not in conflict with any published Washington State cases and no significant questions under the Washington State or federal constitutions have been raised, nor does the Petition involve an issue of substantial public importance. The Petition should be rejected.

A. Maytown Sand and Gravel is not aapplicable and does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' Opinion

The Maytown Sand and Gravel case, relied on so heavily in the Petition, is factually distinguishable and wholly inapplicable. First, the egregious acts of City employees documented in *Maytown* (and *Mission Springs, Inc. v. City of Spokane*, 134 Wn.2d 947, 954 P.2d 250 (1998)), are palpably <u>not present</u> in this case. Not even close.

Second, in order to try to make *Maytown* seem applicable, Petitioners play fast and loose with the facts. For example, they <u>never</u> filed a water service application which the City "refused to process" (*Petition*, at 5) ("Spice, however has not shown that he has submitted a request for water service that satisfied the requirements of Puyallup's city code as

13

³ The November 28, 2018 is the Opinion of record in this case, since the November 21, 2017 Opinion was withdrawn by the Court of Appeals.

required by the remand order in the 2008 [Superior Court] decision. Satisfying these requirements was a prerequisite to the provision of water service by the City under the 2008 decision." *Opinion*, at pp. 20-21). Also, they <u>never</u> exhausted their administrative appeal by pursuing a remand with the Hearing Examiner pursuant to the 2008 decision (CP 666-669). And they <u>never</u> alleged causes of action in tort for Puyallup's alleged breach of its duty to provide water service. CP 1-12.

Maytown is not applicable because it never addressed ch. 64.40 claims. Ch. 64.40 claims are not tort claims. "The statute expressly states the remedies provided are in addition to any other remedies provided by law.⁴ RCW 64.40.040. See Pleas v. Seattle, 49 Wn. App. 825, 841 n.3, 746 P.2d 823 (1987)(stating RCW 64.40 "is a clear break with the past").

There are strict deadlines and requirements for bringing an action under ch. 64.40. RCW 64.40.030 provides that "[a]ny action to assert claims under the provisions of this chapter shall be commenced only within thirty days after all administrative remedies have been exhausted." [Emphasis added.] Thus, in order to bring a ch. 64.40 claim—Spice's only damages claim in this litigation—administrative remedies, which include the LUPA appeal, must have been exhausted. Because Spice failed to do this, his ch. 64.40 damages claim was properly

_

⁴ Wilson v. City of Seattle, 122 Wn.2d 814, 823 (distinguishing between ch. 64.40 claims and tort claims); Westmark v. Burien, 140 Wn. App. 540, 548-549 (2007) (distinguishing between ch. 64.40 and tort claims and holding "the plain language of chapter 64.40 RCW provides that it is a remedy 'in addition' to 'other remedies provided by law"); Blume v. City of Seattle, 134 Wn.2d 243, 250-251, (holding "Petitioners' tortious interference claim is separate from their claim for damages pursuant to RCW 64.40.020").

dismissed by the trial court and affirmed by the court of appeals.

The only claim for damages in the Complaint was pursuant to ch. 64.40. CP 10-11. No torts were alleged. No "tortious acts" were ever committed by any City employees. In short, the *Maytown* case is completely irrelevant and inapposite because ch. 64.40 damages claims were not addressed or at issue in that case.

B. Spice never filed a water service application with the City

It is indisputable that neither Mr. Spice nor any of the Petitioners ever submitted an application for water service, or otherwise satisfied the requirements of Puyallup's City Code for water service outside City limits.⁵ Petitioners have never submitted a written application for water service or a change in water service; nor did they request a pre-application meeting with the City, paid any application fee, asked for City staff review of any proposed application, requested a City Council hearing or review of any proposed application or submitted plans for water service or change of water service—all as required by City Code. *Id.*; see, PMC ch. 14.22.

Filing an application is a condition precedent to ripen an RCW ch.64.40 damages claim, and Petitioners' failure to do so is fatal to their claims. *See*, RCW 64.40.020(1) ("Owners of a property interest who have filed an application for a permit have an action for damages..."). Because Spice never filed a water service application, his ch. 64.40 claim was properly dismissed by the trial court and affirmed by the Court of Appeals.

C. Petitioners' claims have been rendered moot

15

⁵ See, e.g., CP 1518-1519; CP 1723-1724.

Ordinances were adopted effective in 2011 that (1) removed the authority of the Pierce County Hearing Examiner to resolve water service disputes, and (2) eliminated the requirement that applicants for water services outside the City limits be in the process of annexation.

Under either of these two <u>legislative</u> actions, Petitioners' claims and this Appeal are moot. There is no meaningful relief this Court can provide at this time. First, the appeal is moot because the Hearing Examiner lost jurisdiction to hear the remand of the September 12, 2008 Order because of Pierce County Ordinance No. 2010-88s, which became effective on January 1, 2011. That Ordinance eliminated the Pierce County Hearing Examiner review of water system, water service and water boundary disputes. CP 1717 ¶6-7; 1551-60. There is no way for Petitioners to now comply with the 2008 remand requirement or to have the Hearing Examiner further review or decide the questions in the Order.

Further, the relief requested by Petitioners was for the ability to connect to and receive City water service. The City amended its Code effective July 18, 2011 eliminating the annexation requirement. Since that time Petitioners have been able to obtain what they requested in the original LUPA and thus the appeal was mooted. There is nothing left from which to appeal, and there is no basis for ch. 64.40 damages.

D. The Trial Court/Court of Appeals properly ruled that Doris Mathews's Estate is an indispensable party to this litigation

Both lower courts properly ruled that Doris Mathews' Estate was an indispensable party to obtain relief in this case:

Spice contends that his ownership interest in the subject property in this case establishes that is an owner of a 'property interest' who may seek damages under RCW 64.40.020. Although Spice may have a property interest, he does not explain how that fact affects the superior court's determination that the Estate was a necessary and indispensable party under CR 19. Therefore this argument fails.

Opinion, at 18. Spice again cannot explain how <u>his</u> property interest impacts the trial court's determination that the Estate was a necessary and indispensable party under CR 19. He cites no case law interpreting CR 19 in support of his position. His argument once again must fail.

E. The Trial Court properly imposed CR 11 sanctions which were properly affirmed by the Court of Appeals

Petitioners devote barely one page of their Petition to this issue. The Court of Appeals went through an exhaustive discussion encompassing seven pages of its *Opinion* (pp. 21-28), and addressed each of Spice's 15 grounds upon which the CR 11 violation should have been reversed, yet rejected each of these points. Once again, Petitioners have failed to present this Court any law or basis upon which the Trial Court's holding of CR 11 violations by Petitioners' counsel can be reversed.

F. Petitioners' recently manufactured constitutional due process claims were never plead and should be disregarded

Petitioners now try to manufacture a "significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States" pursuant to RAP 13(b)(3), by asserting a federal or state due process claim. However, they never pleaded any such claims in their Complaint, nor did they raise these claims in their summary judgment opposition at

the Trial Court, nor did they raised them in the Court of Appeals. These claims are not properly before this Court. Petitioners attempt this last-minute "Hail Mary;" however the Court should disregard it out of hand: Pursuant to RAP 2.5(a)(3), to raise an error for the first time on appeal, the error must be "manifest" and truly of constitutional dimension.⁶

Petitioners have failed to meet the standard for raising an issue for the first time on appeal—that there is an error that is "manifest" allowing appellate review of the issue. Here, there is no manifest error. It was never raised by Petitioners, and never briefed or argued at any other point in this litigation. Petitioners' argument for appellate review must fail.

G. The Division II November 28, 2018 Opinion does not conflict with any published Washington case law

1. The Opinion does not conflict with *Citizens to Preserve Pioneer Park v. City of Mercer Island*, 106 Wn. App. 461

In a continued attempt to manufacture some compelling issue upon which this Court can entertain this Petition, Spice incoherently argues that "in considering Spice's claims on Summary Judgment in 2008, the Trial and Appeals Court should have reviewed the administrative record before the body or officer in the local jurisdiction authorized to make the final determination." *Petition*, at 21-22. However, the Trial Court in 2008 remanded the case to the Hearing Examiner for additional proceedings

⁶ The defendant must identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error actually affected the defendant's rights at trial. It is this showing of actual prejudice that makes the error "manifest," allowing appellate review." State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926-927 (2007) (emphasis added). See also, In Re Detention of Law, 146 Wn. App. 28, 44 (2008) ("[U]nless he raises a manifest error of constitutional magnitude, he may not assert this argument for the first time on appeal.")

(CP 666-669), something that Spice never pursued; and that appeal is now moot. The 2005 Hearing Examiner administrative hearing is irrelevant because Spice filed a LUPA appeal of this H.E. decision in 2006, *and later withdrew that Petition*. *Opinion*, 3-4.

The Court of Appeals reviewed over 7,500 pages of clerk's papers and dozens of pages of transcripts. The Court was aware of all relevant facts. Both hearing examiner decisions were referenced in the Court of Appeals Opinion. The issues before the Court on this appeal were the 2008 LUPA and Trial Court orders appealed by Petitioners in their five (5) Notices of Appeal. CP 1369-1381; 3560-3576; 2593-2613; 5453-5496.

2. Van Sant v. City of Everett, 69 Wn. App. 641, 849 P.2d 1276 (1993) is inapplicable because the LUPA was rendered moot when the Hearing Examiner lost the ability to provide relief via changes to both the Puyallup City Code and Pierce County Code

Petitioners misunderstand the Court of Appeals' ruling as to the 2008 Superior Court Order (CP 666-669). The Court of Appeals held that "ordinances were adopted in 2011 that removed the authority of the Hearing Examiner to resolve water disputes under PCC 19D.140.090 and that eliminated the requirement that applicants for water services outside the City limits be in the process of annexation. Therefore, any challenge to the first two elements of the 2008 decision is moot." *Opinion*, at 20.7

to submit an application for water service is fatal to their claims.

19

⁷ Further, "Spice has not shown that he has submitted a request for water service that satisfied the requirements of Puyallup's City Code as required by the Remand Order in the 2008 decision. Satisfying these requirements was a prerequisite to the provision of water service by the City under the 2008 decision." *Opinion*, at 20-21. Petitioners' failure

H. The City does not have a duty to provide water service to property located outside of its City limits

When this lawsuit was filed, City requirements for water service to properties outside the City's corporate limits required that such outside property owners either be a part of an annexation process or agree to not challenge annexation at a later date. *See, e.g.*, CP 1522-26. This was a very common requirement by many cities in the State, and well within the City's legal authority. Petitioners' property was located outside of City limits, thus no duty was breached to provide water service, and there is no "issue of substantial public interest" that warrants review under RAP 13.4.

V. CONCLUSION

The Petition for Review is untimely, and it should be dismissed on that ground alone. However, if the Court does consider the Petition, Petitioners have not satisfied any of the requirements of RAP 13.4 to warrant review by this Court. Dismissal is proper.